IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the Matter of the:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

FUND FOR THE ENCOURAGEMENT OF SELF RELIANCE

An Irrevocable Trust.

DOAN L. PHUNG,

Appellant, vs.

THU-LE DOAN,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. **Theodo**nically Filed District Court Case Jun **2018** 12:21 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

An Appeal from The Eighth Judicial District Court

The Honorable Gloria Sturman, Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Nevada Bar No. 2421
L. Joe Coppedge, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 4954
MUSHKIN CICA COPPEDGE
4495 South Pecos Road
Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
(702) 454-3333 Telephone
(702) 386-4979 Facsimile

I. Jurisdictional Statement

The Supreme Court or Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A. This appeal is from a final Order Denying Respondent's Objection to Commissioner's Report and Recommendation Confirming Prior Report and Recommendation, Granting Petition to Assume Jurisdiction of Trust, Making Additional Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Confirming Co-Trustees and to Modify Trust (the "Order"). The Order was filed on December 27, 2017. Notice of Entry of the Order was entered on December 28, 2017. The Notice of Appeal was filed on January 19, 2018.

II. Routing Statement

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(13) and NRAP 17(a)(14) as the appeal concerns a question of first impression of Nevada law and the principal issue is a matter of statewide public importance. The question of whether a trustee of a wholly charitable trust that benefits the public may decant trust assets over the objection of other trustee(s) is not only a matter of first impression in Nevada, but this specific question has not been addressed by other jurisdictions. Judge Sturman acknowledged the importance of the principal issue by stating, "... this is -- this is law, new law in the State of Nevada. But it's a really important issue. And because the kind of things...it's becoming a big deal. So we need to know what the law in Nevada

¹ AA Vol. V 001313 – 001320

² AA Vol. VI 001321 – 001324

³ AA Vol. VI 001333 – 001334

is."⁴ Thus, this case involves a significant issue of first impression that merits being retained by the Supreme Court.

Further, the principal issue, whether a trustee has a legal right to decant a wholly charitable trust, involves a significant question of statewide public importance as the public policy consequences could be far reaching. If the district court's decision is allowed to stand, there could be a dramatic increase in the number of lawsuits to decant charitable trusts as disenchanted trustees of other charitable trusts could use these decisions to decant funds, which would expand the decanting statute far beyond its intended purpose.

III. Statement of Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Whether the district court erred in finding and ordering that Thu-Le Doan has a legal right to decant the Fund for the Encouragement of Self-Reliance ("FESR" or the "Trust"), a wholly charitable trust.
- 2. Whether the district court erred in applying NRS 163.556 to allow the division of a FESR, a wholly charitable trust.
- 3. Whether the district court erred by adopting the Probate Commissioner's reasoning that the only material facts for the court to find in applying NRS 163.556 to FESR is whether a trustee (i) has the power of invasion of principal of the trust assets and (ii) there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust.
 - 4. Whether the district court erred by declining to enforce the parties'

⁴ AA Vol. VII 001434

- 5. Whether the district court erred by failing to acknowledge the disputed issues of material fact which require the setting of a discovery schedule and evidentiary hearing pursuant to EDCR 4.17.
- 6. Whether the district court erred by adopting the Probate Commissioner's reasoning that he was relying on Thu-Le's ability to serve as a trustee, but he did not inquire about her conclusive incapacity to serve, her misuse of FESR funds, her questionable conduct with respect to another charitable trust or her removal as a trustee of the Trust.

IV. Statement of the Case

These cases follow the parties' 2012 divorce. Petitioner below, Thu Le Doan ("Thu-Le"), after four (4) years of trying unsuccessfully to have the Family Court divide the charitable trusts, filed separate Petitions to Assume In Rem Jurisdiction of Trust, Confirm Trustee and to Modify "Trust (the "Petition") on September 22, 2016, requesting that the assets of two (2) wholly charitable trusts, FESR and the Vietnamese-American Scholarship Fund ("VASF")⁵ be divided equally into separate irrevocable charitable trusts or, in the alternative, that the assets be divided equally and Thu-Le's portion be decanted into her own charitable trust.⁶ Among other things, the FESR Petition

⁵ VASF is the subject of a related appeal in case number 74963.

⁶ AA Vol. I 000743 – 000789

made demonstrably false allegations against Respondent, Doan L. Phung ("Phung") including that he made political donations in violation of the trust charters and that she can no longer work with Phung because the relationship has become hostile.⁷

Phung filed an objection on October 12, 2016.8 The matter was initially scheduled to be heard on November 4, 2016;9 however, the hearing was moved to October 14, 2016 on an order shortening time requested by Thu-Le in an effort to quash the Trust's previously planned board meeting scheduled for October $15.2016.^{10}$

At the initial hearing, without taking any evidence, the Probate Commissioner recommended decanting for the simple reason Thu-Le claimed she could not work with Phung and that the parties were at "loggerheads", merely because she said so, and it was best for everybody to divide the Trusts.¹¹ Notably, the Probate Commissioner later admitted he was not fully prepared for the initial hearing.¹²

Following the entry of the Report and Recommendation Granting Petition to Assume Jurisdiction of Trust, Confirming Co-Trustee and to Modify Trust, ¹³

2

3

4

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

⁷ AA Vol. I 000745 – 000746

⁸ AA Vol. I 000815 – 000836

⁹ AA Vol. I 000793 – 00794

 $^{^{10}}$ AA Vol. I 000798 - 000808

¹¹ AA Vol. II 000847 – 000852

¹² AA Vol. I 000694

¹³ AA Vol. II 000847 – 000852

Phung filed an objection, ¹⁴ asserting among other things, that the Probate Commissioner misapplied the decanting statute to a wholly charitable trust, and in the alternative, Phung requested discovery and an evidentiary hearing pursuant to EDCR 4.17 to ferret out disputed facts. The objection was heard by the district court on February 1, 2017. At the hearing, the district court determined, (1) it is unclear from the record and Report and Recommendation whether the Probate Commissioner considered if there are any questions of fact that will impact or militate a different relief under the decanting statute, and (2) it is unclear from the record and Report and Recommendation the analysis that the Probate Commissioner went through to reach his conclusion to decant. ¹⁵

The district court remanded this matter back to the Probate Commissioner for clarification of certain questions, including (1) whether there are any questions of fact that are material to an analysis under the decanting statute, (2) whether the Probate Commissioner ascertained those material facts, and if so, what are the material facts and how did the he consider them in his analysis, (3) whether the Probate Commissioner determined there are material facts not in dispute, and if so, what are the material facts that are not in dispute, and (4) whether there are material facts that support a different relief other than decanting. ¹⁶

Following a hearing on April 28, 2017, the Probate Commissioner issued

¹⁴ AA Vol. II 000863 – 000961

¹⁵ AA Vol. IV 001101 – 001102

¹⁶ AA Vol. IV 001101 – 001102

17

18

19

20

21

22

found: (ii) that . . . a trustee has the absolute right to decant a trust with the only requirements being that a trustee has the power of invasion of principal and that there is no reduction of any fixed income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust; (iii) that the only material facts for the Court to find in applying NRS 163.556 is whether a trustee has power of invasion of principal and that there is no reduction of any fixed income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust; (iv) that although the facts on whether the trustees are at loggerheads are illuminating, such facts are not determinative to the ultimate solution, which is an absolute right given to a trustee who holds the power of invasion of principal and there is no reduction of any fixed income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust;

> (v) that the Court does not have to depend upon specific evidences or instances of evidence of why things may or may not be workable;

> (vi) that the Court is relying upon the ability and rights of the trustees to the exclusion of the parties contract rights¹⁷;

Phung filed an objection to the new Report and Recommendations.¹⁸ Following oral argument on October 12, 2017, the district court entered the

¹⁷ AA Vol. IV 001185 – 001192

¹⁸ AA Vol. V 001196 – 001278

Order on December 27, 2017.¹⁹ Among other provisions, the Order indicated that although the Probate Commissioner incorrectly used the term "absolute right", he correctly analyzed NRS 163.556 in finding that Thu-Le has a right to decant FESR. Based upon that and other findings, the district court ordered that Thu-Le has a legal right to decant FESR.²⁰ This appeal followed.

V. Statement of Facts

Respondent Phung and Petitioner Thu-Le were married in 1970 and lived together over forty (40) years before divorcing in 2012. The sole breadwinner of the family was Phung, who established his own nuclear engineering company, PAI Corporation ("PAI"), a Tennessee corporation. In over thirty (30) years of working for PAI, Phung earned millions with which he established three charity organizations to benefit the needy – VASF, FESR and the Institute for Vietnam Future ("IVNF"). Only VASF and FESR are at issue in the Petitions filed by Thu-Le. Although Thu-Le performed no role in setting up the trusts, Phung made her a trustee of VASF and FESR.²¹

A. FESR is a wholly charitable trust benefitting the public.

FESR was created by Phung in 1997 to empower qualified but disadvantaged people and organization activities in Vietnam and the United States to encourage the pursuit of self-reliance. The purposes of FESR include,

(1) assisting organizations that loan macro amounts of money at favorable

¹⁹ AA Vol. V 001313 – 001320

²⁰ AA Vol. V 001313 – 001320

²¹ AA Vol. I 000816 – 00822

interest rates for the purpose of enabling individuals to pursue a trade or business; (2) paying macro amounts of money to individuals who are qualified as above but are nevertheless unable to meet the loan criteria; to individuals from a disadvantaged background who are qualified to attend Vietnamese or American institutions of training but because of their financial need have difficulty in so doing; . . . ²²

FESR is a unitrust, utilized by Phung and Thu-Le to obtain Federal and state charitable tax deductions. The following sections of the Charter are pertinent to the present discussion.

Section 2: RESTRICTION ON USE OF TRUST FUND

...no part of the Trust fund shall be used to carry on propaganda or otherwise attempt to influence legislation, or to participate in any political campaign...other provisions of this instrument notwithstanding, the Trustees shall not engage in any act of self-dealing... (emphasis added.)

Section 6: APPOINTMENT OF SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE

The number of Trustees shall not exceed five (5) individuals, two of whom are Trustors or selected exclusively by one or both Trustors. Trustors expressly reserve the right during their lifetime to appoint additional Trustees and the Trustees may elect additional Trustees by not less than two-thirds (2/3) majority vote. The term for which Trustees are authorized to act shall be for five years. A Trustee shall be removed by not less than two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of all Trustees when they deem that such Trustee is incompatible or not in sympathy with the purpose of the Trust, or for any other just cause. In the event that a vacancy shall occur because of death, resignation, incapacity to act, or removal of a Trustee, then the remaining Trustees shall, within sixty (60)

²² AA Vol. I 000752

 23 AA Vol. I 000752 - 000755

²⁴ AA Vol. I 000767 – AA 000788

²⁵ AA Vol. I 000762 – AA 00765

days from the date of such vacancy, fill the vacancy. The failure of a Trustee to attend any of the meetings of Trustees for three (3) consecutive meetings shall be deemed conclusive as his or its incapacity to act. (emphasis added.)

Section 9: GIFTS IRREVOCABLE

Gifts made to the Trust shall be irrevocable. (emphasis added.)

Section 10: TRUST IRREVOCABLE

This CHARTER is irrevocable and may not be amended or modified, provided, however, that if for any reason whatsoever this Trust fails to qualify as tax-exempt charitable Trust, such changes as are necessary for the Trust to so qualify may be made by Trustors so long as they are living and competent, otherwise and thereafter, by a court of competent jurisdiction.²³

B. The MSA is a court approved contract between the parties.

In 2010, after 40 years of marriage, Thu-Le filed for divorce. Phung did not contest the divorce and agreed to the MSA prepared by Thu-Le's attorney. The MSA was signed on February 22, 2012 and made an integral part of the divorce. The Decree of Divorce was entered on April 12, 2012, which "approved, adopted, ratified, and confirmed [the MSA] as an Order of this Court. The Among other provisions, the MSA provides that Thu-Le was awarded 51% of the community assets. The parties further agreed that Phung would continue to manage the Trust accounts on behalf of the parties, just as he had always done, subject to monetary restrictions on making donations. Further, the

MSA could not be modified unless agreed to in writing and signed by both parties.²⁶

In relevant part, the MSA provides:

HUSBAND shall manage the Fidelity VASF Brokerage Account No. XXXX4792, Fidelity FESR Brokerage Account No. ZXXXX4784, Bank of America Account No. XXX XXX 2956, Bank of America Account XXXX XXXX 4259 on behalf of the both Trustees, HUSBAND and WIFE. However, any and all decisions relating to contributions, expenditures, grants, etc., in excess of \$5,000.00 shall be agreed to in writing by both trustees. Moreover, these assets cannot be moved or transferred without the express written permission of both Trustees. (emphasis added.)

MSA at Section 14.1.²⁷

The parties further agreed that:

This Agreement shall be taken as the full and final Marital Settlement between the parties, and it is agreed that a copy of this Agreement shall be offered to the Eighth Judicial District Court, Family Division, . . . and the Court shall be requested to ratify, confirm and approve the same, and this Agreement shall by reference be merged into and become a part of said Decree to the extent as if therein set forth in full. The parties specifically agree that the provisions of this agreement may be enforced by the contempt powers of the Family Court, however except where specifically provided; the Family Court shall have no jurisdiction to modify the agreement of the parties without the express written agreement of the parties.

MSA, Section 26.1.²⁸

C. Thu-Le filed a Petition to decant FESR.

Thu-Le filed a Petition to decant FESR, making numerous manufactured

²⁶ AA Vol. I 000767 – 000788

²⁷ AA Vol. I 000776

²⁸ AA Vol. I 000782 – 000783

²⁹ AA Vol. I 000743 – 000789

facts, false allegations and unsubstantiated claims, including but not limited to the following:

- Phung engaged in political activities using charity funds;
- Thu-Le feared for her safety when the police in Communist Vietnam purportedly interviewed her about Phung;
- Thu-Le was feared for her safety with working with Phung;
- Thu-Le did a lot of work for the charities between 2011 and 2016; and
- The administration of the Trust is at loggerheads.²⁹

Phung refuted all of the above allegations and requested discovery and an evidentiary hearing.³⁰ However, the Probate Commissioner and the district court in acting upon his Reports and Recommendations, failed to follow the applicable rule and did not allow discovery into the disputed facts, nor schedule an evidentiary hearing, in violation of the clear mandates of EDCR 4.17.³¹

D. Thu-Le misused FESR money, was derelict in her supervision of the Vietnamese charity, TTKKTL and misappropriated money from TTKKTL when she resigned.

NRS 163.556 requires that the trustee wishing to decant a trust shall meet "ascertained qualities". Without the benefit of any discovery, Phung provided evidence to the district court that refuted each false allegation and proffered

³⁰ AA Vol. I 000815 – 000836

 $^{^{31}}$ AA Vol. II 000847 – 000852; AA Vol. IV 001179 – 001184; AA Vol. V001313-001320

evidence regarding the qualifications of Thu-Le.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

- Thu-Le has not attended to the affairs of the FESR since at least 2011.³²
- Thu-Le's claims to have worked on many projects in Vietnam between 2012 and 2016. However, any charitable work she did in Vietnam for months to work for the Vietnamese charity TTKKTL in her hometown, abusing FESR money in the process.³³
- In 2014 Thu-Le caused the VASF building in Oak Ridge, Tennessee to be vacant, leading to it losing insurance.³⁴
- Thu-Le caused Fidelity Investments to freeze the FESR accounts multiple times, forcing Phung to pay penalty fees for bounced checks and to borrow money to run the current affairs of the Trust.³⁵
- Under her supervision as chairperson over operations manager Phan Van Hai ("Mr. Hai") of the TTKKTL charity in Vietnam, Thu-Le failed to detect Mr. Hai's systematic theft of TTKKTL funds in the approximate amount of \$57,000.³⁶
- During her supervision over Mr. Hai and during her visits of the operations of TTKKTL between 2012 and 2016, Thu-Le did not detect that Mr. Hai created phantom civil groups in 2015 to defraud

³² AA Vol. I 000816 – 00819

³³ AA Vol. I 000816 – 000818

³⁴ AA Vol. II 000940

³⁵ AA Vol. II 000931

³⁶ AA Vol. II 000959 – 000961

contributions from VASF and FESR.37

• Upon her and Mr. Hai's resignations from the TTKKTL, she caused Mr. Hai to steal approximately \$20,000 for her with the excuse she took back the money her family contributed to TTKKTL in 2008 without her permission.³⁸

Notwithstanding the plethora of disputed facts, neither the Probate Commissioner, nor the district court in acting upon his Reports and Recommendations, considered any of the disputed facts, ignored the contract between the parties, and in so doing, ordered that Thu-Le has a legal right to decant the Trust, irrespective of any "illuminating" facts.³⁹

E. Thu-Le was removed as a trustee of FESR due to her conclusive incapacity to serve.

FESR properly noticed a board meeting for October 15, 2016.⁴⁰ The announced agenda, included among other things, the election of Holy Ngo as a trustee and distributions from the Trust in December 2016.⁴¹ Instead of participating in Trust matters, Thu-Le requested that the hearing on her Petition be expedited from November 4, 2016 to October 14, 2016, in an attempt to quash the properly noticed meeting.⁴² At the October 14, 2016 hearing, the Probate

³⁷ AA Vol. II 000959 – 000961

³⁸ AA Vol. II 000959 – 00961

³⁹ AA Vol. II 000847 – 000852; AA Vol. IV 001179 – 001184; AA Vol. V

^{21 | 001313 - 001320}

⁴⁰ AA Vol. II 000928

⁴¹ AA Vol. II 000928

⁴² AA Vol. I 000798 – AA 000808

Commissioner did not enter an injunction prohibiting the previously scheduled meeting from taking place.⁴³

As a result, the board met as scheduled on October 15, 2016. Among other business discussions, Holly Ngo was elected as a trustee of both FESR, and Thu-Le was removed as a trustee for her conclusive incapacity to serve resulting from her failure to attend three (3) consecutive board meetings.⁴⁴ The district court did not dispute the fact that Holly Ngo was elected as a trustee and Thu-Le was removed as a trustee, but proffered the opinion that Thu-Le had filed her petitions before that action.⁴⁵

VI. Summary of Argument

The Order adopting the Probate Commissioner's Report and Recommendation is based upon an erroneous interpretation and application of NRS 163.556, which does not allow for the decanting of a charitable trust such as FESR. The Order ignored the fact that FESR is not community property, but instead is a charitable unitrust that has benefitted from charitable donations and is designed to benefit the public. Further, the district court failed to analyze disputed facts that are material to an application of NRS 163.556, failed to recognize that Trust has other trustees whose rights should not be abridged, failed to analyze facts that could lead to a different relief other than decanting, and in remarkable fashion, ignored the parties' contract that limits Thu-Le's

⁴³ AA Vol. I 000842 – 000844

⁴⁴ AA Vol. II 000939 – AA 000943

⁴⁵ AA Vol. II 000939 – 000943

ability to invade Trust assets and rejected the clear intent of the Trust Charter, as amended by the MSA. The MSA, a court approved contract between the parties, mandates that Phung shall manage the Trust assets, thereby limiting Thu-Le's access to the Trust funds and prohibits both parties from making distributions exceeding \$5,000 without the concurrence of the other.

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