IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the Matter of the:

FUND FOR THE ENCOURAGEMENT OF SELF RELIANCE

An Irrevocable Trust.

DOAN L. PHUNG,

Appellant,

VS.

THU-LE DOAN, Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 31 2018 04:20 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT NO. 74964

District Court Case No. P-16-089638-T

An Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

GOLDSMITH & GUYMON, P.C.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly applied NRS 163.556 to allow Thu-Le to decant FESR. The only material facts for the Court to find in applying NRS 163.556 is whether a trustee has the power of invasion of principal and that there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust.

Since the decanted assets will be distributed to a charitable trust wherein the

²⁸AA Vol. I 000745

²⁹AA Vol. I 000759

³⁰AA Vol. I 000746

beneficiaries will remain the same as FESR, there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary of FESR and the Attorney General of the State of Nevada who represents the interests of the charitable beneficiaries of FESR did not object to Thu-Le's request to decant FESR.

NRS 163.556(1) gives a trustee a legal right to decant a trust as long as the trustee has discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal to or for a beneficiary of the trust. The statute does not state that unlimited discretion or broad authority is required for a trustee to decant, only that a trustee has discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal. Pursuant to FESR's Charter, Thu-Le has the discretion and authority to distribute the trust income and principal to the beneficiaries of FESR. Although not required by NRS 163.556, the Charter gives Thu-Le very broad discretion with the only restrictions related to the Internal Revenue Code and political activities.

The only material facts the District Court needed to consider in applying NRS 163.556 were (1) whether Thu-Le had discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal to or for a beneficiary of the trust, and (2) whether there was any reduction of income interest of any income beneficiary of the original trust. In determining the material facts the District Court only had to review the Charter and the Charter Amendment which is not in dispute between the parties. Since there were no disputed issues of material fact, the District Court was correct in not setting an evidentiary hearing and a discovery schedule.

Since Thu-Le and Phung cannot work together as Co-Trustees due to the parties divorce and the resulting MSA, the intent of the Trustors have been greatly

compromised, as neither party will be able to agree on any distributions over \$5,000.00 which seriously limits the charitable purpose and causes that FESR contribute too. Thus, NRS 163.556 provides the perfect remedy to the impasse of the Co-Trustees.

The District correctly found that Thu-Le as Co-Trustee of FESR had the legal right to decant FESR when she initially filed her Petition to Assume In Rem Jurisdiction of Trust, Confirm Trustee and to Modify Trust on September 22, 2016, and that whether or not Petitioner was subsequently removed as Co-Trustee of FESR, does not affect Petitioner's ability to proceed with her petition to decant FESR.

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court was correct in finding and ordering that Thu-Le had a legal right to decant FESR.

1. <u>The decanting statute applies to FESR.</u>

The District Court correctly applied NRS 163.556 to allow Thu-Le to decant FESR. The only material facts for the Court to find in applying NRS 163.556 is whether a trustee has the power of invasion of principal and that there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust. Here, the Trustees have the power, so decanting is appropriate.

Phung argues that NRS 163.556 does not apply to FESR because FESR is a charitable trust and under NRS 163.556(3) Thu-Le cannot decant FESR because there is no identifiable "income interest of any income beneficiary" under FESR and that it is impossible to analyze whether there is no reduction of any income interest of any

income beneficiary if there are no identified income beneficiaries, that FESR is a Unitrust in which charitable deductions have been taken, and therefore the decanting statute was not intended to and does not apply to FESR.

NRS 163.556(3)(a) provides as follows:

3. A trustee may not appoint property of the original trust to a second trust if:

(a) Appointing the property will reduce any income interest of any income beneficiary of the original trust if the original trust is:

(1) A trust for which a marital deduction has been taken for federal or state income, gift or estate tax purposes;

(2) A trust for which a charitable deduction has been taken for federal or state income, gift or estate tax purposes; or

(3) A grantor-retained annuity trust or unitrust under 26 C.F.R. 25.2702-3(b) and (c).

As used in this paragraph, "unitrust" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 164.700.

Phung incorrectly identifies FESR as a unitrust. NRS 164.700(3) defines a unitrust as "a trust in which a certain percentage of annually assessed fair market value of trust property is paid to a trust beneficiary." FESR is an irrevocable charitable trust where a charitable deduction was taken for federal and state tax purposes with no certain percentage of annually assessed fair market value of trust property being paid to a trust beneficiary, thus NRS 163.556(3)(a)(2) applies to FESR.

Phung's argument that Thu-Le cannot decant FESR because there is no identifiable "income interest of any income beneficiary" under FESR and that it is impossible to analyze whether there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary if there are no identified income beneficiaries is flawed because the Charter identifies the Trust principal and income beneficiaries as the organizations that provide micro loans at favorable interest rates for the purpose of enabling individuals to pursue trade or business, the individuals that receive the micro loans, individuals from a disadvantaged background to attend Vietnamese or American institutions of training or any charitable organization, trust, community chest, fund or foundation.

The District Court ordered that half of FESR's assets be decanted into a separate irrevocable charitable trust with Thu-Le serving as sole trustee of the separate irrevocable charitable trust, thus since the decanted assets will be distributed to a charitable trust wherein the beneficiaries will remain the same as FESR, there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary of FESR. The Attorney General of the State of Nevada represents the interests of the charitable beneficiaries of FESR and the Attorney General's office have been properly served throughout the proceedings and the Attorney General did not object to Thu-Le's request to decant FESR. At this time and at the time Thu-Le Petitioned the District Court to decant FESR, decanting is/was appropriate.

2. <u>Thu-Le is a trustee with the power of invasion of the principal of the</u> <u>trust assets.</u>

Phung argues that Thu-Le cannot decant FESR because she does not have unlimited discretion or broad authority to distribute trust income or principal.

NRS 163.556(1) provides as follows:

1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, unless the terms of a testamentary instrument or irrevocable trust provide otherwise, a trustee with discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal to or for a beneficiary of the trust may exercise such discretion or authority by appointing the property subject to such discretion or authority in favor of a second trust as provided in this section.

NRS 163.556(1) gives a trustee a legal right to decant a trust as long as the trustee has discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal to or for a beneficiary of the trust. The statute does not state that unlimited discretion or broad authority is required for a trustee to decant, only that a trustee has discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal. Pursuant to the Charter, Thu-Le has the discretion and authority to distribute the trust income and principal to the beneficiaries of FESR.

In fact pursuant to the Charter, Thu-Le's discretion is very broad as the only restrictions are that the charitable distributions are within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or Section 170(c) and IRS guidelines GCM 35319 and 37444 for gifts or grants to foreign organizations or individuals, and that the funds shall not be used to carry on propaganda or otherwise attempt to influence legislation, or to participate in any political campaign.³¹

Phung argues that pursuant to the MSA, Thu-Le cannot manage FESR's assets, is limited to making contributions or grants less than \$5,000.00 unless both trustees agree to a greater amount and FESR's assets cannot be moved or transferred without the express written permission of both trustees and thus Thu-Le is not a trustee with discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal. First, NRS 163.556

³¹AA Vol. I 000759

does not require that a trustee have management rights of the assets, only that a trustee have discretion to distribute trust income and principal to decant a trust. Second, the Charter does not restrict Thu-Le from managing FESR's assets, the restriction is a result from Thu-Le and Phung's contentious divorce and since the family court had no jurisdiction to decant FESR, the MSA included the \$5,000.00 limitation on contributions and grants so that neither party could dissipate FESR's assets assets until FESR could be decanted in probate court.

Phung argues that due to the \$5,000.00 limitation, Thu-Le does not have unlimited discretion or broad authority to distribute trust income and principal and therefore cannot decant FESR. As stated above, the MSA is a result of the divorce and the Charter had no monetary limitations and the trustees were free to distribute to the beneficiaries without a \$5,000.00 limitation. Even if the Charter contained a \$5,000.00 limitation, NRS 163.556 does not require a trustee to have unlimited discretion or broad authority, and since Thu-Le can make distributions to beneficiaries of up to \$5,000.00 each, Thu-Le has the discretion and authority to distribute trust income and principal and therefore can decant FESR's assets even with the \$5,000.00 limitation. Additionally, Thu-Le and Phung have the discretion to agree to any distributions greater than the \$5,000.00 limitation.

The District Court also found that although the MSA limited a trustee's discretion to make distributions in excess of \$5,000.00, unless agreed to in writing by both trustees, such a limitation did not affect the purpose of FESR which was to provide "micro loans" at favorable interest rates for the purpose of enabling individuals to pursue a trade or business.

15

Ϋ.,

3. <u>The Charter reflects the settlors' intent to allow decanting of</u> <u>FESR's assets.</u>

There is no case law in Nevada regarding NRS 163.556 or trust decanting, thus Phung cites to case law from the state of Massachusetts to support his argument that Thu-Le cannot decant FESR. It is important to note that Massachusetts has not enacted a decanting statute and in <u>Morse v. Kraft</u>, 466 Mass. 92, 95 (Mass. 2013), the Court noted that "[p]otentially, common law provides authority for decanting, but a [S]tate statute or the terms of the trust instrument may expressly authorize a trustee to decant trust property to another trust." Since Nevada expressly authorizes a trustee to decant trust property to another trust pursuant to NRS 163.556, the Massachusetts case law cited by Phung does not apply to this Nevada case.

Since Massachusetts does not have a decanting statute, Massachusetts must look at the terms of the trust instrument to determine if a trustee can decant a trust. <u>Id</u>. In determining whether a trustee has authority to decant a Trust, the intent of the settlor is "paramount". <u>Ferri v. Powell-Ferri</u>, 476 Mass. 651, 656 (2017). The authority to decant need not be expressly granted to the trustee in the declaration of trust, a court may conclude that such authority exists based on other trust language. <u>Id</u>. The determination is reached by assessing the terms of a particular trust instrument and other relevant evidence of the settlor's intent. <u>Id</u>. Thus, Massachusetts will allow a trustee to decant a trust if a trustee has almost unlimited discretion to distribute assets of an irrevocable trust. <u>Id</u>.

The <u>Ferri</u> Court noted that "States that have enacted explicit decanting provisions similarly look to a trustee's broad authority to distribute principal from the

trust for the benefit of one or more of the beneficiaries when determining whether the trustee has the authority to decant. See, e.g., Fla. Stat. § 736.04117." Id. The Ferri Court refers to the Florida decanting statute which allows decanting if a trustee has absolute power under the terms of the trust to invade its principal to make current distributions to or for the benefit of one or more beneficiaries. Fla. Stat. § 736.04117. NRS 163.556 does not require a trustee to have absolute power to invade the principal of a trust to decant, Nevada only requires the trustee to have discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal to or for a beneficiary of the trust to decant a trust.

Although not required by NRS 163.556, as noted above, the Charter gives Thu-Le very broad discretion with the only restrictions related to the Internal Revenue Code and political activities. And as stated previously, it is only the MSA that limits Thu-Le's discretion for distributions greater than \$5,000.00, which both Thu-Le and Phung can exercise their discretion to agree to distributions greater than \$5,000.00.

If this Court is inclined to consider the intent of the Settlors of FESR, then the Court will find that Thu-Le and Phung intended to allow decanting. Section Eleven of the Charter states that "[i]n the event that the purpose for which this Trust has been created cannot, at any time, be carried out, Trustees are to administer the Trust for another charitable purpose which is similar to the original purpose of the Trustors."³² Clearly, the intent of the Trustors have been compromised due to the parties divorce and the resulting MSA. Thu-Le and Phung cannot work together as Co-Trustees, thus neither party will be able to agree on any distributions over \$5,000.00 which seriously

³²AA Vol. I 000755

limits the charitable purpose and causes that FESR contribute too. NRS 163.556 provides the perfect remedy to the impasse by the Co-Trustees, therefore the District Court granted Thu-Le's petition to decant FESR.

4. <u>The District Court correctly denied a discovery schedule and did not</u> <u>set an evidentiary hearing pursuant to EDCR 4.17(a).</u>

Pursuant to EDCR 4.17(a) "[i]n contested matters before the Probate Commissioner involving <u>disputed issues of material fact</u>, the Probate Commissioner <u>shall</u> set an evidentiary hearing date and a discovery schedule..." (emphasis added).

The only material facts the District Court needed to consider in applying NRS 163.556 were (1) whether Thu-Le had discretion or authority to distribute trust income or principal to or for a beneficiary of the trust and (2) whether there was any reduction of income interest of any income beneficiary of the original trust. In determining the material facts the District Court only had to review the Charter and the Charter Amendment which is not in dispute between the parties.

Since there were no disputed issues of material fact, the District Court was correct in not setting an evidentiary hearing and a discovery schedule.

Although Thu-Le provided ample justification for wanting to decant FESR and Phung provided numerous false representations against Thu-Le, the Probate Commissioner found that "although the facts on whether the trustees are at loggerheads are illuminating, such facts are not determinative to the ultimate resolution, which is an absolute right given to a trustee who holds the power of invasion of principal and that there is no reduction of any income interest of any

income beneficiary of the trust."33

The District Court found that as a matter of law, the Probate Commissioner did not err in applying NRS 163.556, that the Probate Commissioner came to the right conclusion, but used the incorrect term "absolute right".³⁴

The District Court found that the Probate Commissioner fully analyzed NRS 163.556 and correctly found that Thu-Le as Co-Trustee of FESR met the two prong test: (1) that Petitioner had the power of invasion of principal of the trust assets, and (2) that there is no reduction of any income interest of any income beneficiary of the trust; and as such Thu-Le had the right to decant FESR.³⁵

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